

Access to Mental and Physical Health Care

The Science of Resilience

rrc@dal.ca
 www.resilienceresearch.org
 R2 RESILIENCE



RRC - Evaluation and Training Institute

Table of Contents

Definition	.1
Barriers to Accessing Health Care	.1
Citizenship and Immigration Status	.1
Race & Ethnicity	. 2
Employment Status & Income	. 3
Disabilities	. 3
Sexual Orientation & Gender Minority Status	.4
Neighbourhood of Residence	.4
Homelessness Status	. 5
Health Care Provider Shortages	. 5
Relationship to Resilience	. 6
mproving Access to Health Care	.6
nterventions	.7
Assessment	. 8
Other Notes	.9
References	10



Definition

The concept of "access to health care" or "health care access" is a multidimensional and complex concept widely used in the medical literature, despite some variation in its operational definition (Cabieses & Bird, 2014; Norris & Aiken, 2006). Commonly, access to mental and physical health care is defined as the degree to which people are able to obtain quality care from the healthcare system that fulfils their medical needs in a timely manner (Escarce & Kapur, 2006). Accordingly, access to health care involves the timely use of personal health services to achieve the best possible physical and mental health outcomes (Evans et al., 2011). People who have adequate access to health care are able to navigate the healthcare system to gain access to the health care services they need, when they need them, to maintain a positive physical and mental health. Access to physical health care involves the use of preventive health services, including screening for disease prevention (for example, screening for cancer, blood glucose, and high blood pressure), as well as the use of personal health services, including hospitals, medical clinics, and doctor's offices when people are ill or injured (Meshefedjian et al., 2016). The concept, 'access to mental and physical health care,' refers to the degree to which people of all age groups (including infants, children, youth, adults, and older adults) benefit from receiving quality and timely health care services (Fulkerson, Haff, & Chino, 2013; Horton & Johnson, 2010; Meshefedjian et al., 2016). Given the vast differences in health care legislation among countries around the world, consistent empirical evidence has documented wide differences in the access to health care that residents of different countries across the globe experience (Cabieses & Bird, 2014). Access to health care is closely connected to the type of health care system available in a country, the general level of development of the country, its demography and geography, and wider issues such as population beliefs and values about health.

Barriers to Accessing Health Care

Access to comprehensive, quality mental and physical health care services is widely considered a basic human right (Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal Nurses [AWHONN], 2017; Hansen, Krasnik, & Høg, 2007). Therefore, many organizations and medical associations support policy initiatives that guarantee access to such health care services for all people. However, the literature on access to health care has consistently shown that several institutional, cultural, and economic barriers make it challenging for certain groups of people to access the care they need. These barriers are briefly described below.

Citizenship and Immigration Status

According to the World Health Organisation (WHO), national health care plans often discriminate against undocumented immigrants – which are immigrants residing in a country without documents to prove legal residence in that country, including refugee claimants or

asylum seekers – by making only emergency care available to them (World Health Organization, 2003). Studies have shown that undocumented immigrants in the United States of America (USA) have less access to health care services including preventive care than do USA-born persons (Tung, 2011). In Canada, refugee claimants are less likely than native-born Canadians to seek health care services, including preventative care, long-term health management and specialist care (Newbold, Cho, & McKeary, 2013). Undocumented immigrants face a number of barriers in accessing health care (AWHONN, 2017). For example, undocumented immigrants do not qualify for adult or child health insurance programs as they are not able to purchase health insurance and they do not qualify for any of the subsidies created under the law (AWHONN, 2017; Newbold et al., 2013). Additionally, often undocumented immigrants are too afraid to be reported to the immigration authority to ask for medical attention when they need it or to access preventive care (Hansen et al., 2007). More generally, both undocumented and documented newcomers face significant barriers to using health care services that include language, cost, transportation, cultural practices, and knowledge (Newbold et al., 2013).

Race & Ethnicity

Regardless of their immigration and citizenship status, racial and ethnic minority groups face significant barriers to accessing quality and timely health care services in industrialized nations (Battle, 2002; Evans et al., 2011; Fiscella, Franks, Doescher, & Saver, 2002). Minority race and ethnicity status have been linked to a lower likelihood of having a regular source of care, fewer physician visits, and lower total health-care expenditures (Fiscella et al., 2002). For example, research has shown that African American and Hispanic American adults and children residing in the United States receive less preventive care and less appropriate health care services that non-African Americans and non-Hispanic Americans, respectively (Evans et al., 2011; Fiscella et al., 2002). Similar trends have been documented for newcomers and Indigenous people in Canada (Newbold et al., 2013; Webster, 2018). The disparities in access to health care that racial and ethnic minority groups experience in industrialized nations can be attributed to many intertwined factors, including cultural beliefs and traditions, language barriers, low income, lack of health insurance, lack of information on the health care system, and lack of adequate transportation (Dong, Ringen, & Fujimoto, 2014; Evans et al., 2011; Fiscella et al., 2002; Fulkerson et al., 2013; Lee & Choi, 2009; Newbold et al., 2013; Rodriguez-Alcalá, Qin, & Jeanetta, 2019; Webster, 2018). Often, ethnic minority groups live in economically depressed and underserved neighbourhoods, they may lack the financial means to afford health insurance, and they may also be unable to navigate the mainstream health system. Not enough health care providers understand the cultures and languages of immigrant populations (National Association of Community Health Centers, 2014). Therefore, without interpretation or translation services, language differences between health care providers and the racial or ethnic minority patients they serve can compromise care.



Employment Status & Income

Being unemployed and belonging to a low-income household are two strong predictors of poor access to healthcare in industrialized nations (Ames, 2007, 2008; Fulkerson et al., 2013; Harrington, Rosenberg, & Wilson, 2014; Raiz, 2006). It is well documented that families living in poverty are more likely to lack health insurance and consequently, experience a lower likelihood of having a usual source of care, compared to families in better economic standings (Collins, Rasmussen, Beutel, & Doty, 2015). Affordable insurance is still out of reach for many low-income families, and even for those who can afford insurance, high deductibles and out-ofpocket costs may prevent them from seeking the care that they need. The consequences of the health disparities experienced by low-income families include deteriorating health and wellbeing for vulnerable socio-demographic groups (Fulkerson et al., 2013). Research has consistently indicated that belonging to a low-income family is one of the strongest predictors of poor access to health care for both adults and children, with low-income families having significantly less opportunities for consistent access to care than those in the middle- or highincome categories. For example, in a recent study investigating health disparities among children entering kindergarten in Nevada (USA), the authors found that children in low-income families were less likely than those in middle- or high-income families to have had access to a routine check-up (i.e. not for an illness) in the past 12 months, a routine check-up once per year since birth, a primary care provider (e.g. regular doctor, nurse practitioner, or physician's assistant), and a dental visit in the past 12 months (Fulkerson et al., 2013). Similar results were found in studies that investigated health disparities among adults living in low-income households in the USA and Canada (Harrington et al., 2014; Kirby, 2008; Meshefedjian et al., 2016).

Disabilities

People with disabilities face multiple challenges in accessing proper health care services when they need them (AWHONN, 2017; Smith, 2008). Scheer and colleagues (2003) identified three broad categories of barriers to health care access that persons with disabilities experience: environmental, structural, and process. Environmental barriers include issues of accessibility and lack of adequate services. Structural barriers refer to a lack of insurance coverage for all necessary services, including limited health plan benefit programs that do not provide coverage for services such as physical therapy and occupational therapy, high-quality functional medical equipment adapted to each person's individual needs, and mental health services. Process barriers involve the delivery of service, including lack of provider knowledge and lack of suitability of service. A considerable proportion of people with disabilities report serious problems accessing prescription drugs (32%), dental care (29%), medical equipment (21%), mental health services (17%), and home care (16%) due to cost (Kennedy & Erb, 2002).

The most common barrier that persons with physical disabilities experience in accessing health care services involves insufficient space for wheelchairs and lack of accessible medical



screening equipment essential for early diagnosis of serious diseases, such as breast and cervical cancer (Sanchez et al., 2000; Schopp, Sanford, Hagglund, Gay, & Coatney, 2001). Persons with sensory impairments often experience communication barriers resulting from a lack of alternative modalities to accommodate their needs, such as American Sign Language (ASL) interpreters for the Deaf (Steinberg, Wiggins, Barmada, & Sullivan, 2002; Witte & Kuzel, 2000). For people with learning or cognitive disabilities, obstacles to effective care may occur when long wait times are required, or providers do not allow enough time to explain medical concepts in an accessible manner (Smith, 2008). Personal and cultural barriers to health care access that have been documented in the literature include provider's negative attitudes, misperceptions, and lack of knowledge of persons with disabilities (Sanchez et al., 2000). Negative provider attitudes sometimes result in withholding of treatment or provision of inferior treatment.

Sexual Orientation & Gender Minority Status

Two Spirit, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Pansexual, Trans, Gender Independent, Queer and Questioning (2SLGBTQ+) persons often encounter barriers that affect their access to needed health services and can result in poorer health outcomes (AWHONN, 2017). For example, more than half of 2SLGBTQ+ people have experienced negative interactions with health care providers, including disrespectful treatment, lack of awareness on the part of the clinician about the specific health needs of the 2SLGBTQ+ person, attribution of the person's sexual orientation or gender identity as the cause of an illness, and denial of care (Tolbert, Orgera, Singer, & Damico, 2019). Inequality in the workplace and health insurance sector, and rejection by families and communities are also thought to contribute to the disparities in health outcomes for 2SLGBTQ+ persons.

Disparities in health care access for 2SLGBTQ+ persons are profound, with barriers to health equity for these persons existing at both the social and individual levels (Hudson & Romanelli, 2020). Social-level factors include poverty, stigma, oppression, and social exclusion (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al., 2014). Individual factors that are prominent barriers to engaging in health care among 2SLGBTQ+ communities include mental health problems such as depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms and addictions, and homelessness (Quinn, Reed, Dickson-Gomez, & Kelly, 2018; Romanelli & Hudson, 2017). Other individual-level factors include endocrinological processes (e.g., stress), and biological factors (e.g., allostatic loads), as well as a high likelihood of victimization, abuse and discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity. As a result, 2SLGBTQ+ persons experience higher rates of being uninsured, delaying or avoiding health care, and delaying or not getting needed prescription medication compared to their heterosexual and cisgender counterparts (Krehely, 2009).

Neighbourhood of Residence

Empirical evidence has shown that neighborhood-level characteristics have an impact on health care access above and beyond the characteristics of individuals in industrialized



nations (Bell, Wilson, Bissonnette, & Shah, 2013). Numerous studies have shown a strong relationship between neighborhood of residence and a number of health-related indicators, including access to health care. Taken together, these studies identified disparities in access to health care among different neighbourhoods and demonstrated that differential access to health care significantly impact health care utilization and health outcomes (Bell et al., 2013; Pearce, Witten, & Bartie, 2006; Schuurman, Berube, & Crooks, 2010). Specifically, the empirical evidence provided by these studies demonstrated that persons residing in more socioeconomic disadvantaged neighbourhoods and experiencing residential instability are significantly more likely to not access preventive care, not have a usual source of care, and have unmet health care needs (Kirby & Kaneda, 2005, 2006; Prentice, 2006). The availability of, and access to, primary health care is one critical neighborhood characteristic that has the ability to directly impact health. Research has demonstrated that increased distance to health care services results in reduced utilization of the health care system and increased area-based inequities in health status (Bell et al., 2013; Hiscock, Pearce, Blakely, & Witten, 2008). For example, people who live in rural and underserved areas may need to drive long distances to access health care facilities and health care providers (AWHONN, 2017), and therefore, even with reliable transportation, accessing health care facilities may be challenging (Newkirk & Damico, 2014).

Homelessness Status

As mentioned above, unstable housing and, more specifically, experiencing homelessness is a significant predictor of poor access to health care for persons in industrialized nations (Bell et al., 2013; Knittel et al., 2019). People experiencing homelessness are entitled to basic social benefits and social participation services, as well as health insurance and access to health care services (Hensel, 2017). However, the absence of a stable residence makes accessing such services difficult, for example if state offices refuse to accept a claimed address. Studies and data collections of various institutions, associations, and research groups confirm that access to health care for this group of people is notably difficult and, as a result, their mental and physical health status is poor (English, 2006; Hensel, 2017). In fact, plenty of research has shown that homeless persons are at a significant higher risk of experiencing physical health problems and mental health problems, including addictions, compared to persons with stable housing (Bell et al., 2013; English, 2006; Hensel, 2017; Knittel et al., 2019). Persons who live on the street, sleep in hostels, or are at acute risk of imminent homelessness often do not have health insurance and therefore, they are not able to access regular health care services and tend to access medical services only in emergencies, despite having multiple medical problems (Hensel, 2017).

Health Care Provider Shortages

A significant barrier to mental and physical health care is the lack of primary care providers in industrialized nations such as the USA and Canada (AWHONN, 2017). For example, projected estimates of the USA population indicate that there will be a shortage of 20,400



primary care physicians by 2020 (Health Resources and Services Administration, 2013). Training new health care providers, including general practitioners and nurses, is an important component of maintaining an adequate supply of providers.

Relationship to Resilience

The barriers to accessing mental and physical health care outlined above represent key social determinants of health that heighten the risk of experiencing mental and physical health issues, including depression, anxiety, substance use, and chronic physical health conditions such as diabetes, hypertension and cancer, relative to persons who do not experience such barriers (Battle, 2002; Krehely, 2009; Romanelli & Hudson, 2017). Clearly, in industrialized nations, access to health care is an important factor for the wellbeing of both children and adults as those who have better access to care also have improved mental and physical health status, as well as a better quality of life (Hanson et al., 2003; Shi, Green, & Kazakova, 2004). For patients, negative experiences in the health care system, including instances of insensitivity or disrespect, may give rise to distrust of health providers, failure to seek needed care, and reliance upon self-treatment (Steinberg et al., 2002). Therefore, being able to access quality and timely health care services is a factor that significantly promotes resilience in both children and adults by promoting positive health and wellbeing. Numerous studies have documented that children who have access to quality and timely preventive care and personal health care services, including vaccinations, routine check-ups, and proper treatments and medications, are more likely to perform well in school (English, 2006; Fletcher, 2004; Fulkerson et al., 2013). The better academic performance of these children are due to the fact that, because they are generally healthier than children who have poor access to health care services, they lose less days of school, are better able to pay attention in class, and are also better able to fulfil their responsibilities as students. Similar evidence is also available for adults (Bell et al., 2013; Harrington et al., 2014; Meshefedjian et al., 2016), Adults who have better access to quality and timely preventive care and personal health care services are more likely to: (a) adhere to a healthier lifestyle involving adequate diet and exercise, (b) avoid risky and health-threatening behaviours such as smoking and using illegal drugs, (c) properly fulfil their responsibility at work and in their family system as they are better able to pursue a meaningful career and care for aging parents and young children, and (d) meaningfully engage in close and supporting relationships with family members and with people outside the family system, as well as in community and leisure activities. All these factors promote resilience in both children and adults living in industrialized nations.

Improving Access to Health Care

The literature suggests that programs and policies promoting health care access in industrialized nations must be sensitive to the specific needs of at-risk groups, including undocumented immigrants, ethnic minorities, low-income families, persons with disabilities,



R2 r2.resilienceresearch.org © R2 RESILIENCE

2SLGBTQ+ persons, persons living in economically disadvantaged and underserved neighbourhoods or in rural areas, persons with unstable residence, and regionally and linguistically isolated residents (Fulkerson et al., 2013). For this reason, institutions, associations, and clubs in many cities should provide easily accessible health care services, such as street outpatient clinics and mobile medical and psychiatric services for at-risk populations (Hensel, 2017).

In a recent qualitative investigation, Hudson and Romanelli (2020), drawing from a health equity framework, interviewed 38 LGBTQ-identifing people of color in New York City. The authors used framework analysis to examine participants' perspectives on the role of community in enhancing health and wellbeing. Community strengths identified by participants included (a) safety, acceptance, and support; (b) interconnectedness and resource sharing; and (c) advocacy, collective action, and community potential.

Interventions

The literature presents some intervention programs that have successfully been implemented in the USA designed to improve underserved children's access to health care (Ames, 2008). Following are a few examples of model programs.

- A family-centred model for providing health care services to children from low-income, culturally and linguistically diverse families (Evans & Garwick, 2002). This model was developed though a collaboration among parents, health care providers, and cultural specialists.
- Though the results have been mixed, some urban school districts have attempted to improve adolescents' access to mental health services through school-based interventions (Britto, Klosterman, Bonney, Altum, & Hornung, 2001; Weist, Nabors, Myers, & Armbruster, 2000). Some of these programs involve a collaboration with schools to identify uninsured children from low-income families and link them to medical and dental services, while others attempt to identify medical and developmental problems in very young, low-income children and connect them to health and social services (Cuellar et al., 2003).
- Lindsey and Chadwick (1993) describe a health passport system implemented in San Diego, CA, using a centralized computerized database, including information on physical and emotional/behavioural health to maintain and distribute health and education records for children in out-of-home care. This project uses public health nurses to review the health information and consult with foster parents, social workers, and health providers.
- A health passport program for foster children was developed in North Carolina from a collaborative effort between a county's social services and public health departments (National Academy for State Health Policy, n.d.). In the program, a public health nurse

acts as liaison between health agencies and families ensuring continuity of care and avoiding gaps in the health care services children receive. The nurse provides case management to ensure that children received health assessments and follow-up services, works with social workers, trains foster parents, and gives a health passport packet to foster families or other caregivers who are caring for children in protective custody.

Assessment

Access to health care services can be assessed using measures of service use satisfaction. Several service use satisfaction and service impact measures exist for use with diverse populations, including children, youth, adults, and families, as well as persons with mental health problems or disabilities, among others.

Single-item Service Use Satisfaction Measures

In some cases, service use satisfaction and impact of service use can be assessed using a measure including only one or two items specifically developed for the purpose of each individual investigation. This can be done either by using an individual measure of service use satisfaction and impact of service used, including only one or a few items (Tom Xu, 2002; Vogan, Lake, Tint, Weiss, & Lunsky, 2017), or by including items assessing these constructs in a more extensive survey (Urbanoski, Rush, Wild, Bassani, & Castel, 2007). In these cases, participants are asked to rate their satisfaction with each service they used in the previous 1-12 months on a Likert scale from very dissatisfied to very satisfied. Respondents may also be asked to rate the impact of the services they have used on a Likert scale form very dissatisfied to very satisfied. Respondents' answers can then be analyzed for each service accessed to assess their satisfaction with each specific service or across all services accessed to understand their satisfaction with services I thought I needed;" "The services I received were helpful to me;" and "Overall, I am satisfied with the services I received over the past six months" (Carlson & Gabriel, 2001).

The Youth Service Survey (YSS) & Youth Service Survey for Families (YSS-F)

The Youth Service Survey (YSS) is a self-report questionnaire that allows adolescents aged 15-17 to rate the behavioral health services they received in the previous 6 months, while the Youth Service Survey for Families (YSS-F) is a proxy-report measure that assesses caregivers' perceptions of behavioral health services their children aged 17 and under received in the previous 6 months (Jones, 2014). Both surveys consist of 26 closed-ended items in which respondents are asked to express on a 5-point rating scale from strongly agree to strongly disagree the extent to which they are satisfied with the services they or their children received. The 26 items are organized into seven domains that are used to measure different aspects of satisfaction with public behavioral health services. The seven domains include access, participation, outcomes, satisfaction, cultural sensitivity, social connectedness, and functioning. Adapted versions of these scales have been used in a variety of settings (c.f., Ungar, Liebenberga, Duddingb, Armstrongc, & van de Vijverd, 2013). Liebenberg and colleagues (2016) examined the psychometric properties of a 13-item version of the YSS, using data from 593 atrisk adolescents (12–17 years). The study results supported the use of the reduced version of the YSS as a valid and reliable measure of service quality.

The Client Satisfaction Questionnaire Scales (CSQScales)

The Client Satisfaction Questionnaire Scales (CSQScales) is a portfolio of measurement instruments designed to assess consumer satisfaction with health and human services, including governmental and public benefit programs and services. The CSQScales include five versions of the Client Satisfaction Questionnaire (CSQ), three versions of the CSQ for special populations (big print version, children and youth version and parent rated child services versions) and four versions of the Service Satisfaction Scale (SSS) (Attkisson, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c; Greenfield & Attkisson, 2004). The instruments are brief, based on academic scale development methodology, and written to be applicable across the wide array of health and human services (Vasan & Solomon, 2015).

Other Notes

Topics noted for further investigation:

- Access to health care in developing countries, and comparison between access to health care in industrialized nations vs developing countries.
- Strategies that institutions can implement to improve universal/global access to health care, including the development of laws and policies.
- Effects of specific state- and community-level initiatives and policies in improving access to health care of underserved and marginalized populations, including, for example, low-income families, ethnic minority families, and people with addictions.



References

- Ames, N. (2007). Improving underserved children's access to health care: Practitioners' views. *Journal of Child Health Care, 11*(3), 175-185. Doi:10.1177/1367493507079557
- Ames, N. (2008). Medically underserved children's access to health care: A review of the literature. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 18(1), 64-77. Doi:10.1080/10911350802266334
- Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal Nurses [AWHONN] (2017). AWHONN Position Statement: Access to Health Care. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing, 46*(1), 64-66. Doi:10.1016/j.jogn.2016.11.005
- Attkisson, C. C. (2020a). CSQ Versions: CSQ-3, CSQ-4, CSQ-8, CSQ-18A, CSQ-18B Advancing Excellence in Human Services. California, USA: Tamalpais Matrix Systems, LLC. Accessed at <u>https://csqscales.com/csq-versions/#CSQ-4</u>
- Attkisson, C. C. (2020b). CSQScales[®] for Special Populations: Big Print, Children & Youth, Parent Rated Child Services. Advancing Excellence in Human Services. California, USA: Tamalpais Matrix Systems, LLC. Accessed at <u>https://csqscales.com/special-populations/</u>
- Attkisson, C. C. (2020c). Service Satisfaction Scale© (SSS): SSS-30, SSS-16, SSS-RES, SSS-18.3 Advancing Excellence in Human Services. California, USA: Tamalpais Matrix Systems, LLC. Accessed at <u>https://csqscales.com/sss-versions/</u>
- Battle, S. F. (2002). Health concerns for African American youth. *Journal of Health & Social Policy*, 15(2), 35-44.
- Bell, S., Wilson, K., Bissonnette, L., & Shah, T. (2013). Access to primary health care: Does neighborhood of residence matter? *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 103(1), 85-105. Doi: 10.1080/00045608.2012.685050
- Britto, M. T., Klosterman, B. K., Bonney, A. E., Altum, S. A., & Hornung, R. W. (2001). Impact of a school-based intervention on access to healthcare for underserved youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 29(2), 116–124. Doi:10.1016/S1054-139X(01)00196-3
- Cabieses, B., & Bird, P. (2014). Glossary of access to health care and related concepts for lowand middle-income countries (LMICS): A critical review of international literature. *International Journal of Health Services*, 44(4), 845-861. Doi:10.2190/HS.44.4.j
- Carlson, M. J., & Gabriel, R. M. (2001). Patient satisfaction, use of services, and one-year outcomes in publicly funded substance abuse treatment. *Psychiatric Services*, *52*(9), 1230-1236.
- Collins, S. R., Rasmussen, P. W., Beutel, S., & Doty, M. M. (2015). *The problem of underinsurance and how rising deductibles will make it worse: Findings from the Commonwealth Fund Biennial Health Insurance Survey, 2014.* The Commonwealth Fund. Retrieved from <u>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2015/may/problem-</u> <u>underinsurance-and-how-rising-deductibles-will-make-it</u>
- Cuellar, A. E., Wagner, T. H., Hu, T., Peifer, K., Kitzman, H., Tobin, S. J., Shih, V., & Morrow, S. (2003). New opportunities for integrated child health systems: Results from the

multifaceted pre-to-three program. *American Journal of Public Health, 93*(11), 1889–1890.

- Dong, X., Ringen, K., & Fujimoto, A. (2014). Expanding access to health care for Hispanic construction workers and their children. In *Expanding access to health care: A management approach* (pp. 321-343). Abingdon, United Kingdom: Routledge.
- English, A. (2006). Youth leaving foster care and homeless youth: Ensuring access to health care. *Temple Law Review, 79*(2), 439-459. Retrieved from <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-</u> <u>33947631348&partnerID=40&md5=4002f1e1f61b924fbc856721570f661e</u>
- Escarce, J. J., & Kapur, K. (2006). Access to and quality of health care. In M. Tienda & F. Mitchell (Eds.), *Hispanics and the future of America*. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press.
- Evans, K., Coresh, J., Bash, L. D., Gary-Webb, T., Köttgen, A., Carson, K., & Boulware, L. E. (2011).
 Race differences in access to health care and disparities in incident chronic kidney disease in the US. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 26*(3), 899-908.
 Doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq473
- Evans, T., & Garwick, A. (2002). Children with special health care needs: A health care model for families from diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds. *Journal of Social Work in Disability and Rehabilitation, 1*(2), 7–24. Doi: 10.1300/J198v01n02_02
- Fiscella, K., Franks, P., Doescher, M. P., & Saver, B. G. (2002). Disparities in health care by race, ethnicity and language among the insured. *Medical Care*, 40(1), 52-59. Doi: 10.1097/00005650-200201000-00007
- Fletcher, J. S. (2004). Children's lack of access to health care as a barrier to academic performance: A brief summary of issues. *American Journal of Health Education*, 35(4), 234-236. Doi:10.1080/19325037.2004.10603647
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I., Simoni, J. M., Kim, H., Lehavot, K., Walters, K. L., Yang, J., . . . Muraco, A. (2014). The health equity promotion model: Reconceptualization of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) health disparities. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 84*, 653–663. Doi:10.1037/ort0000030
- Fulkerson, N. D., Haff, D. R., & Chino, M. (2013). Health care access disparities among children entering kindergarten in Nevada. *Journal of Child Health Care*, 17(3) 253–263. Doi: 10.1177/1367493512461570
- Greenfield, T.K., & Attkisson, C.C. (2004). The UCSF Client Satisfaction Scales: II. The Service Satisfaction Scale-30. In M. Maruish (Ed.), *The use of psychological testing for treatment planning and outcome assessment* (3rd. Ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Hansen, A. R., Krasnik, A., & Høg, E. (2007). Access to health care for undocumented immigrants: Rights and practice. *Danish Medical Bulletin*, 54(1), 50-51. Retrieved from <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-</u> <u>34547421092&partnerID=40&md5=ef99dc12e26be4d29535140fcaf2aef6</u>



Hanson, K., Neuman, T., & Voris, M. (2003). Understanding the health care needs and experiences of people with disabilities: Findings from a 2003 survey. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.kff.org/medicare/6106.cfm

Harrington, D. W., Rosenberg, M. W., & Wilson, K. (2014). Comparing health status and access to health care in Canadas largest metropolitan areas. Urban Geography, 35(8), 1156-1170. Doi:10.1080/02723638.2014.945262

Health Resources and Services Administration. (2013). Projecting the supply and demand for primary care practitioners through 2020. Retrieved from http://bhpr.hrsa.gov/healthworkforce/supplydemand/usworkforce/primarycare/

Hensel, F. J. (2017). Towards better health: Improving access to health care for homeless people. *Deutsches Arzteblatt International*, 114(40), 663-664. Doi:10.3238/arztebl.2017.0663

Hiscock, R., Pearce, J., Blakely, T., & Witten, K. (2008). Is neighborhood access to health care provision associated with individual level utilization and satisfaction? *Health Services Research*, 43(6), 2183-2200. Doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2008.00877.x

Horton, S., & Johnson, R. J. (2010). Improving access to healthcare for uninsured elderly patients. *Public Health Nursing*, *27*(4), 362–370. Doi:10.1111/j.1525-1446.2010.00866.x

Hudson, K. D., & Romanelli, M. (2020). "We are powerful people": Health-promoting strengths of LGBTQ communities of color. *Qualitative Health Research, 30*(8), 1156-1170. Doi:10.1177/1049732319837572

Jones, A. (2014). Youth Services Survey for Families (YSS-F)/Youth Services Survey (YSS) Consumer Survey: Annual Report FY2014. Department of Human Services, Colorado Office of Behavioral Health.

Kennedy, J., & Erb, C. (2002). Prescription noncompliance due to cost among adults with disabilities in the United States. American Journal of Public Health, 92(7), 1120-1124. Doi:10.2105/ajph.92.7.1120

Kirby, J. B. (2008). Poor people, poor places and access to health care in the United States. *Social Forces*, *87*(1), 325-354. Doi:10.1353/sof.0.0062

Kirby, J. B., & Kaneda, T. (2005). Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and access to health care. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior 46*(1), 15–31. Doi:10.1177/002214650504600103

Kirby, J. B., & Kaneda, T. (2006). Access to health care: Does neighborhood residential instability matter? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 47(2), 142–55.

Knittel, A. K., Graham, L. F., Peterson, J., Lopez, W., & Snow, R. C. (2019). Access to health care services among young people exchanging sex in Detroit. *Journal of Urban Health*, 96(3), 452-468. Doi:10.1007/s11524-018-0239-5

- Krehely, J. (2009). How to close the LGBT health disparities gap: Disparities by race and ethnicity. *Center for American Progress*, 1–9.
- Lee, S., & Choi, S. (2009). Disparities in access to health care among non-citizens in the united states. *Health Sociology Review*, *18*(3), 307-320. Doi:10.5172/hesr.2009.18.3.307

National Academy for State Health Policy. (n.d.) Second annual NCACDSS best practices award. Retrieved August 2, 2020, from <u>http://www.ncacdss.org/documents/04GuilfordISC.doc</u>

- National Association of Community Health Centers. (2014). *Access is the answer: Community health centers, primary care and the future of American health care.* Nashville (TN), USA: National Health Care for the Homeless Council. Retrieved from http:// www.nhchc.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/nachc-access-isanswer-brief.pdf
- Newbold, K. B., Cho, J., & McKeary, M. (2013). Access to Health Care: The Experiences of Refugee and Refugee Claimant Women in Hamilton, Ontario. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 11(4), 431–449. Doi:10.1080/15562948.2013.808390
- Norris, T. L., & Aiken, M. (2006). Personal access to health care: A concept analysis. *Public Health Nursing*, 23(1), 59-66. Doi:10.1111/j.0737-1209.2006.230109.x
- Meshefedjian, G. A., Ouimet, M. J., Frigault, L. R., Leaune, V., Azzou, S. A. K., & Simoneau, M. É. (2016). Association of material deprivation status, access to health care services, and lifestyle with screening and prevention of disease, Montreal, Canada, 2012. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 13(9). Doi:10.5888/pcd13.160157
- Pearce, J., Witten, K., & Bartie, P. (2006). Neighborhoods and health: A GIS approach to measuring community resource accessibility. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 60*(5): 389–95. Doi: 10.1136/jech.2005.043281
- Prentice, J. C. (2006). Neighborhood effects on primary care access in Los Angeles. *Social Science & Medicine 62*(5), 1291-1303. Doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.07.029
- Quinn, K. G., Reed, S. J., Dickson-Gomez, J., & Kelly, J. A. (2018). An exploration of syndemic factors that influence engagement in HIV care among Black men. *Qualitative Health Research, 28*, 1077-1087. Doi:10.1177/1049732318759529
- Raiz, L. (2006). Health care poverty. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare, 33*(4), 87-104. Retrieved from <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-33845447745&partnerID=40&md5=0c5ff84712f3c2e4b90c6a874fc60e73</u>
- Rodriguez-Alcalá, M. E., Qin, H., & Jeanetta, S. (2019). The Role of Acculturation and Social Capital in Access to Health Care: A Meta-study on Hispanics in the US. *Journal of Community Health, 44*(6), 1224-1252. Doi:10.1007/s10900-019-00692-z
- Romanelli, M., & Hudson, K. D. (2017). Individual and systemic barriers to health care: Perspectives of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender adults. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *87*, 714–728. Doi:10.1037/ort0000306
- Sanchez, J., Byfield, G., Brown, T. T., LaFavor, K., Murphy, D., Laud, P. (2000). Perceived accessibility versus actual physical accessibility of healthcare facilities. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, *25*, 6-9.
- Scheer, J., Kroll, T., Neri, M. T., & Beatty, P. (2003). Access barriers for persons with disabilities: the consumer's perspective. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, *13*, 221-230.
- Schopp, L. H., Sanford, T. C., Hagglund, K. J., Gay, J. W., & Coatney, M. A. (2001). Removing service barriers for women with physical disabilities. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 47, 74-79.

- Schuurman, N., Berube, M., & Crooks, V. A. (2010). Measuring potential spatial access to primary health care physicians using a modified gravity model. *Canadian Geographer*, 54(1), 29-45. Doi:10.1111/j.1541-0064.2009.00301.x
- Shi L, Green, L. H., & Kazakova, S. (2004). Primary care experience and racial disparities in selfreported health status. *Journal of the American Board of Family Practice* 17(6): 443–452. Doi:10.3122/jabfm.17.6.443
- Smith, D. L. (2008). Disparities in health care access for women with disabilities in the United States from the 2006 National Health Interview Survey. *Disability and Health Journal*, 1(2), 79-88. Doi:10.1016/j.dhjo.2008.01.001
- Steinberg, A. G., Wiggins, E. A., Barmada, C. H., Sullivan, V. J. (2002). Deaf women: Experiences and perceptions of healthcare system access. *Journal of Women's Health*, 11(8), 729-741. Doi:10.1089/15409990260363689
- Tolbert, J., Orgera, K., Singer, N., & Damico, A. (2019). Key facts about the uninsured population. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Accessed from https://www.kff.org/uninsured/issue-brief/key-facts-about-the-uninsured-population/
- Tom Xu, K. (2002). Choice of and overall satisfaction with pharmacies among a communitydwelling elderly population. *Medical Care, 40*(12), 1283-1293. Doi:10.1097/01.MLR.0000036411.91560.30
- Tung, W. C. (2011). Increasing access to health care among immigrant populations: A transtheoretical approach. *Home Health Care Management and Practice*, 23(2), 152-154. Doi:10.1177/1084822310388107
- Ungar, M., Liebenberga, L., Duddingb, P., Armstrong, M., & van de Vijverd, F. J. R., (2013).
 Patterns of service use, individual and contextual risk factors, and resilience among adolescents using multiple psychosocial services. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(2), 150-159.
 Doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.05.007
- Urbanoski, K. A., Rush, B. R., Wild, T. C., Bassani, D. G., & Castel, S. (2007). Use of mental health care services by Canadians with co-occurring substance dependence and mental disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, *58*(7), 962-969. Doi:
- Vanderbilt, A. A., & Wright, M. S. (2013) Infant mortality: A call to action overcoming health disparities in the United States. *Medical Education Online*, 18(1), 22503, Doi:10.3402/meo.v18i0.22503
- Vasan, A., & Solomon, B. S. (2015). Use of colocated multidisciplinary services to address family psychosocial needs at an urban pediatric primary care clinic. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 54(1), 25-32. Doi:10.1177/0009922814541802
- Vogan, V., Lake, J. K., Tint, A., Weiss, J. A., & Lunsky, Y. (2017). Tracking health care service use and the experiences of adults with autism spectrum disorder without intellectual disability: A longitudinal study of service rates, barriers and satisfaction. *Disability and Health Journal, 10*(2), 264-270. Doi:10.1016/j.dhjo.2016.11.002
- Webster, P. (2018). Language barriers restricting access to health care for Indigenous populations. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 190*(24), E754-E755. Doi:10.1503/cmaj.109-5613

- Weist, M. D., Nabors, L. A., Myers, C. P., & Armbruster, P. (2000). Evaluation of expanded
 School Mental Health Programs. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 36(4), 395–411.
 Doi:10.1023/A:1001960929126
- Witte, T. N., Kuzel, A. J. (2000). Elderly deaf patients' health care experiences. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Practice*, *13*(1), 17-22. Doi:10.3122/jabfm.13.1.17.
- World Health Organization. (2003). International migration, health & human rights. Health & Human Rights Publication Series No. 4. Genève: World Health Organization.





For more information about R2 or to discover how you can bring the program to your organization, business or educational setting, please contact us.

Paul McGuinness

Operations Manager

rrc@dal.ca(902) 494-8482

Michael Ungar, PhD

Director

michael.ungar@dal.ca

\$ (902) 229-0434

